THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAY 29 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

S.C.S.Ct. Appellate Case No. 2016-002542
Opinion No. 2016-UP-402 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 17, 2016)

Coves Darden, LLC, Petitioner,

v.

Francisco Jose Garcia Ibañez, Dori Derr and Half Moon Stables, LLC, Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Other Counsel of Record:

James M. Derr
James M. Derr, P.C.
P.O. Box 664
St. Thomas, U.S.V.I. 00804
803-564-6919
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

M. Baron Stanton
STANTON LAW OFFICES, P.A.
1728 Main Street
P. O. Box 245
Columbia, SC 29202
803-929-1484

---------------------------------	---

Rule 220, SCACR 10

OTHER

37 C.J.S. Frauds, Statute of §52 (2008) 39

Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary, 11th ed., 2012 17

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006) 42

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01, Official Comment G 42

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 7.07(3)(a) 42

Restatement (Third) of Agency § 8.01 (2006) 42

Alex Sanders, Deborah Neese, and John S. Nichols, South Carolina Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers §10:23 (p.10-19)(Law Co-op. 1996) 31

I. The Questions Presented for Review

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to apply the summary judgment standard established by the Supreme Court, including the “scintilla” rule and the prohibition on the court taking its own view of the facts, and consequently err in finding facts on (a) the existence of a written contract, (b) the existence of an oral contract, (c) the applicability of the Statute of Frauds, (d) the existence of fiduciary duties, (e) the existence of tortious interference with contract, and (f) the existence of a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade practices Act?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in tacitly relying on, but refusing to rule on, the Circuit Court’s use of concepts of judicial admission and sham affidavit, and additionally err in not ruling on the underlying factual or legal issues in the arguments on those issues, such as the genuineness of disputes presented, and the reasonableness of any inferences urged?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in basing its disregard of evidence in the record on innuendo rather than case law or court rule – specifically did the Court of Appeals state any basis at all for disregarding the Supplemental Interrogatory Response dated October 9, 2013 in the Record at 453?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in applying out-of-state or generalized treatise propositions on the law of the Statute of Frauds in lieu of applying controlling South Carolina authority to the contrary?
5. Did the Court of Appeals err in misunderstanding the sequence of events of the formation of the contract, the later determination of the actual length of validity of the O-1 visa, and the still later commencement of work?
6. Even if there had not been evidence in the record refuting the application of the Statute of Frauds to the oral contract of the parties, would it still have been error to grant summary judgment on the claims of breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference with contract, and violation of the UTPA?
7. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule upon the material presented issue of whether an agreement between an employer and an employee for employment at will is a contract?
8. Did the Court of Appeals err in abrogating the general and South Carolina law of agency by holding that an employee is not an agent of his principal and that an agent does not owe fiduciary duties to his principal?
9. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule upon the material presented issue of whether the Statute of Frauds can be raised as a defense by a third party, who is not a

party to the contract, in an action against that party for tortious interference with contract?

10. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule upon the material presented issue of whether a contract terminable at will can support a claim for tortious interference with contract or for tortious interference with prospective advantage?
11. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule on the material issue of whether inducing another's employee to breach his contract by offering him an illegal compensation agreement or facilitating the same is relevant to the "justification" or "improper means" elements of tortious interference with contract or relevant to claims of tortious interference with prospective advantage?
12. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule on the material issue of whether inducing another's employee to breach his contract by offering him an illegal compensation agreement or facilitating the same is relevant to the "unfairness" and "public impact/conduct-of-trade-or-commerce" elements of a claim for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act?
13. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to rule on the material presented issue of whether the UTPA applies to traditionally proscribed anticompetitive behavior?
14. Did the Court of Appeals err, for compound reasons, in affirming summary judgment on the breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference, and UTPA counts of the complaint?

II. Scope and Standard of Review

In reviewing a South Carolina circuit judge's grant or denial of summary judgment, the appellate court applies, de novo, the same standard and scope of review required to be applied by the circuit judge considering the motion. Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists v. M. S. Bailey & Sons Bankers, 355 S.C. 104, 109, 584 S.E.2d 375, 377 (2003); Stinney v. Sumter School Dist. 17, 382 S.C. 352, 675 S.E.2d 760 (Ct. App. 2009). It is the appellate court's duty to correct errors of law, with no particular deference to the court below. Samuel v. Mouzon, 282 S.C. 616, 320 S.E.2d 482 (Ct. App. 1984).

In a South Carolina state court, summary judgment is governed by state procedural law,

rather than federal. Summary judgment shall not be granted unless, first, all issues of fact are resolved in favor of the nonmoving party, and all facts and all inferences from those facts are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997). Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusions to be drawn from those facts. Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000).

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000); Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003). Summary judgment is a “drastic remedy” which should be cautiously invoked, so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. Cunningham v. Helping Hands, Inc., 352 S.C. 485, 575 S.E.2d 549 (2003); Schmidt.

All it takes is a “scintilla” of evidence in favor of the nonmoving party to create a genuine dispute as to an issue of fact, requiring denial of summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

Rule 56, SCRPC delineates the materials to be considered in determining whether a moving party has made a showing of the absence of dispute of material fact. These materials do not include arguments, assertions, or mere challenges in the moving party’s brief. Cf. Rule 56(c) (referencing “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any”). The grounds for the motion shall be stated with particularity in the written motion. Rule 7(b)(1), SCRPC. Affidavits, if any, in support of the motion shall be served with the motion. Rules 6(d) and 56(c), SCRPC.

Once a moving party has made a sufficient showing, through use of the materials required by Rule 56, of the absence of a dispute as to any material fact, the nonmoving party cannot rest on the mere allegations or denials in the nonmoving party's pleadings in order to show a dispute as to any of those facts. Wogan v. Kunze, 366 S.C. 583, 591, 623 S.E.2d 107, 112 (Ct. App. 2005).

However, the burden of coming forward and demonstrating, in the first instance, the absence of dispute of material fact is entirely on the moving party. Yarborough v. Rogers, 306 S.C. 260, 411 S.E.2d 424 (1991); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, Notes of Advisory Committee on Rules, 1963 Amendment ("Where the evidentiary matter in support of the motion does not establish the absence of a genuine issue, summary judgment must be denied even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented"); and see Adickes v. S.H. Kress, 398 U.S. 144, 159-60 (1970) (discussing procedure under similar federal Rule 56, where moving party must first demonstrate absence of evidence by showing specific discovery passages where evidence was sought and determined to be nonexistent).

Absent such a showing, the nonmoving party has no duty to come forward with any materials or other opposition at all. Yarborough; and see Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586-87, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d 538, 552 (1986)(federal standard).

III. Statement of the Case

A. Brief Procedural Overview

This is a breach-of-contract and business-tort case. In the Circuit Court, the defendants filed two motions for summary judgment. Each time the motion was filed, no grounds

whatsoever were stated.

No supporting affidavits or depositions were filed by the defendants.

Three hearings were held while Plaintiff Covese Darden, the nonmoving party on summary judgment, moved to compel discovery from the moving parties. During the second of the three hearings, the defendants orally argued that the affirmative defense of the Statute of Frauds established that the parties had no contract. After the third hearing, the Circuit Court found that no contract existed and granted summary judgment on all counts of the complaint, and dismissed the entire case.

Covese Darden appealed the grant of summary judgment. A three-judge panel of the Court of Appeals affirmed in a twenty-page opinion consisting of roughly 10 pages of majority opinion and 10 pages of mostly dissenting opinion, all designated as “unpublished” and uncitable. Covese Darden moved for rehearing, moved for rehearing by the whole Court of Appeals, moved for publication of the opinion, and moved for decision of issues presented but not addressed. The motion was denied.

Covese Darden petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari and writ of mandamus to the Court of Appeals. Covese Darden petitioned this Court to review and correct by appropriate order or writ, the Court of Appeals’ actions in not addressing all issues presented on appeal, and in not publishing its opinion. Covese Darden also asked this Court to review the Court of Appeals’ decision on the initially presented issues the Court of Appeals decided, and asked this Court to decide the initially presented issues the Court of Appeals did not decide.

This Court granted certiorari on the initially presented issues decided and not decided by the Court of Appeals, as enumerated in the petition.

B. Other Material Facts

By not including their own Statement of the Case in briefing the Court of Appeals, Respondents are bound by the statement of the case in Appellant's Brief to the Court of Appeals. Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR. Under the scope and standard of review for summary judgment set out earlier in this brief, all the facts in the record in favor of Petitioner Coves Darden are taken as true, undisputed, as are all the favorable inferences that can be made from them.

Coves Darden had established and was continuing to develop a horse breeding and training facility in South Carolina for Pura Raza Española horses. Coves Darden aspired to have its horses continue to win dressage competitions and to compete in the Olympics. Coves Darden became acquainted with Defendant Ibañez because of his international renown.

Ibañez, who lived and worked in Spain, agreed to temporary employment by Coves Darden in the United States, in which Ibañez would train and show Coves Darden's horses.

This employment required Coves Darden to first secure an extraordinary O-1 work visa for Ibañez, allowing him to enter the U.S. for the purpose of the particular employment, to work only in the job described, and to remain in the U.S. only for the length of the authorized employment and length of the visa. The employment required Ibañez to temporarily move from Spain to Springfield, S.C., near Aiken. The parties agreed on all the essential terms of the employment before the visa was issued to Ibañez and before he commenced employment.¹

¹ Coves Darden was run by a married couple, Miguel Coves and Dorothea Darden, who lived on the premises where Ibañez would do most of his work. (Ibañez Depo., pp. 29-32, R. pp. 256-259, and see Coves Aff., ¶¶ 11 and 14, R. p. 282.) Coves Darden defrayed the costs of Ibañez's preliminary visits to the Aiken, South Carolina area for Ibañez to discuss and consider the job. (Ibañez Depo., pp. 29 and 32, R. pp. 256 and 259 (December 2010 visit), and pp. 36-37, R. pp. 260-261 (January 2011 visit, with wife).)

The parties reached agreement in January 2011. (Ibañez Depo. p. 38, R. p. 262 (no

Coves Darden made numerous expenditures. Ibañez made trips as a visitor – at Coves Darden’s expense – to Coves Darden’s farm. Other events and interactions occurred, and eventually, Ibañez got the visa, came to the U.S. for the employment, and commenced work for Coves Darden at Coves Darden’s farm.

Ibañez lived on Coves Darden’s farm in a house provided for him and his family by Coves Darden. He drove a car provided by Coves Darden. He had a dog provided by Coves Darden. He was employed by Coves Darden at about \$96,000 a year plus perks.

A few months after moving to Coves Darden’s farm, Ibañez began clandestine visits to Half Moon Stables, a competitor run by Dori Derr. He rode Derr’s horse, collected no money for Coves Darden for doing so, and secretly agreed to compete for Derr in upcoming horse competitions. Unbeknownst to Coves Darden, around this time, Derr agreed to a future

differences between the two over the terms.)

They agreed on scope of duties (*id.* at 48-49, R. pp. 267-268), rate of pay, fringe benefits such as a furnished house and car, covering or reimbursement of legal and travel expense, and -- as limited by any visa granted -- duration of the employment. (*Id.*, p. 38, R. p. 262 (“expected” length of two years) and pp. 38-40, R. pp. 262-264 (contract was conditioned on visa); Coves Aff. ¶ 6, R. p. 281 (expected length of two years or more if supported by leave of absence, but determined by length of visa); Oct. 9, 2013 Pl. Supp. Resp. to Int., R. pp. 453-454 (initial term was for whatever initial duration was granted for visa, up to three years if supported by leave of absence).) There were no further terms they needed in order to go forward with their agreement. (Ibañez Depo., p. 38, R. p. 262.)

The basis for the nonimmigrant visa, known as an “O-1 visa,” was Ibañez’s international prominence and peculiar, extraordinary, and unique ability to train the particular breed of horses in question. (Liberatore Aff. ¶ 7, R. p. 276.) These horses were generally known as “Spanish Horses,” or “P.R.E.” (Pura Raza Española). (Ibañez Depo., pp. 16-17, R. pp. 252-253.) Coves Darden had a particular need for this level of expertise, because of the size of its operation, the particular breed in question, and the level of breeding and competition to which Coves Darden aspired. (Coves Aff. ¶ 15, R. p. 283.) When the parties came to their agreement, the expected length of an O-1 visa was three years (Coves Aff. ¶¶ 6, R. p. 281), but it was within the authority of the immigration authorities, in spite of the length requested, to grant the visa for any shorter period, including a month. (Oct. 9, 2013 Pl. Supp. Resp. to Interrogatories, R. pp. 453-454.)

employment arrangement with Ibañez in which Derr would facilitate Ibanez's making extra money from other activities in violation of his visa status.

About four months after Ibañez commenced work for Coves Darden, a horse competition had been planned for weeks or months,² and resources and money had been committed for the competition. Two days before this competition, Ibañez expressly assured Coves Darden that everything was in order for the competition. On the eve of this competition, Ibañez disappeared from Coves Darden's farm. He left a note in the house. The note stated that he was quitting with no notice.

After discovering the circumstances, Coves Darden sued Ibañez for damages and injunctive relief for breach of contract and breach of the employee's fiduciary duties of (1) loyalty, (2) honesty, and (3) information. Coves Darden also sued Derr for damages and injunctive relief for tortious interference with contract. Coves Darden sued Derr and Half Moon for damages and injunctive relief for unfair methods of competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of trade or commerce, in violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act.

The aforedescribed summary judgment proceedings, the aforedescribed Circuit Court order granting summary judgment, and the aforedescribed appeal followed. The Circuit Court based its finding of no contract on a conclusion that the Circuit Court was allowed to "freely disregard" material in the record other than an early unsworn interrogatory answer and an early

²The majority opinion of the Court of Appeals erroneously states that the event was planned four months after Ibañez started work, when to the contrary, the event occurred about four months after Ibañez started work. Like most such competitions, it had been planned much earlier.

response to a request for production made while discovery was still underway.

The two early discovery responses referred to the contract as being written, and the response to request for production indicated Covés Darden had been unable to locate a signed copy.

The Circuit Court based its finding of no written contract, not upon an affidavit or discovery response of Ibañez denying the agreement, but upon the stated inability of Covés Darden to locate a signed copy.

The Circuit Court based its finding of no oral contract either upon the same conclusion that the Circuit Court could “freely disregard” other materials in the record, or upon a finding that other materials in the record conclusively established that any oral contract was for more than a year, and was unenforceable under the Statute of Frauds.

Covés Darden distinctly stated thirteen (13) issues on appeal to the Court of Appeals and discussed them with citation of authority, as follows:

1. When a defendant moves for summary judgment without filing any accompanying materials and without stating any grounds in the written motion, does the nonmoving party have a burden to come forward with details on every possible element and piece of evidence in the case in response to evolving briefs and materials thereafter filed by the moving party?
2. What is a “judicial admission,” and does it conclusively establish a matter for purposes of summary judgment?
3. Was there a question of fact, precluding summary judgment, as to whether there was a written contract?
4. Was there a question of fact, precluding summary judgment, as to whether there was a reasonably detailed oral contract between the parties, notwithstanding any lack of a written contract?
5. If the contract was oral, was there a question of fact, precluding summary judgment, as to whether it was impossible to have been performed within one year?
6. Does the existence of remaining unresolved factual issues as to whether a contract is written or oral require entry of summary judgment that there was no contract at all?
7. Even if there had been neither a written contract nor an oral contract with specific agreed terms beyond a general employment-at-will contract, was it error to determine that a high-

level, highly trusted employee brought over from another country to live on the premises of his employer owed no fiduciary duties?

8. Even if there had been no written contract, nor detailed oral contract, would a general employment-at-will contract support a claim for either tortious interference with contract or tortious interference with prospective advantage?

9. Was there evidence of interfering in the contract?

10. Was justification for the interference established as a matter of law?

11. Was a written contract or detailed oral contract a necessary element of a claim for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act?

12. Would inducing the employee of another to both breach fiduciary duties to his employer and breach or end his employment with his employer by offering him an illegal compensation arrangement not offered by the present employer present “impact on trade or commerce” (“public impact”) for purposes of a claim under the SCUTPA, either by presenting a conventional anticompetitive tort, a potential for repetition, or other type of public impact?

13. Does misleading advertising following tortiously interfering with a contract compound the violation of the SCUPTA?

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