**RECEIVED**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

JUL 18 2018

---

**APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge**

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002542

---

Coves Darden, LLC, ..... Petitioner,

v.

Francisco Jose Garcia Ibanez, Dori Derr and  
Half Moon Stables, LLC, ..... Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

Tom Young, Jr.  
SC Bar No. 11643  
Law Offices of Tom Young, Jr., PC  
Post Office Box 651  
Aiken, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 649-0000-Telephone  
(803) 649-7005-Facsimile

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS**

**

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

Any contract may be discharged by a subsequent agreement of the parties, and performance of many contracts may be excused by supervening events *or by the exercise of a power to cancel granted by the contract*. The possibility that such a discharge or excuse may occur within a year is not a possibility that the contract will be 'performed' within a year. *This is so even though the excuse is articulated in the agreement.*" (emphasis added).

In sum, the argument that the Statute of Frauds should not apply because the contract was capable of being performed within one year should fail because the possibility that the contract could be ended within one year is not the same as performance within one year.

**D. The Court of Appeals did not err in not considering the unsigned, unsworn answers to interrogatories.**

Appellant faults the Court of Appeals for not considering certain answers and supplemental answers to interrogatories filed by Coves Darden as creating the level of evidence needed to avoid summary judgment.<sup>14</sup> Respectfully, Appellant is wrong. Unsigned and unsworn answers to interrogatories are not the "answers to interrogatories" contemplated by SCR 56(e) and the court may not consider those in determining the

---

<sup>14</sup> As discussed herein at Section II-A, the level of proof is clear and convincing – not a mere scintilla.

propriety of summary judgment. See, e.g., *Piper v. United States*, 392 F.2d 462 (5th Cir. 1968); *Jones v. Menard*, 559 F.2d 1282, 1285 n. 5 (5th Cir. 1977). They certainly cannot be used to create the triable issue of fact needed to avoid summary judgment.<sup>15</sup>

SCRCP Rule 56(e) permits a court to consider “answers to interrogatories” both in support of and in opposition to a motion for summary judgment. With respect to interrogatory responses, SCRCP Rule 33(a) provides in pertinent part:

“Each interrogatory shall be answered separately and fully in writing under oath. . . . The answers are to be signed by the person making them . . . .”

In its brief before this Court, Appellant admits that “Not a single interrogatory response in the case was sworn.” (Appellant’s Brief at 23, *Coves Darden, LLC v. Ibañez* (No. 2016-002542)). Not only were the responses not sworn, they were not signed by an authorized member or manager of Coves Darden.

Courts generally do not consider unsigned, unsworn responses to interrogatories when ruling on a summary judgment motion. In *Villareal v. El Chile, Inc.*, 266 F.R.D. 207 (N.D. Ill. 2010), the district court noted as follows:

Under Rule 33, answers to interrogatories must be verified and must be signed by the person answering the interrogatory, not only by the party’s attorney. *Hindmon v. Natl.-Ben Franklin Life Ins. Corp.*, 677 F.2d 617, 619 (7th Cir. 1982) (observing that interrogatory answers signed by attorney and not party violated ‘the clear mandate of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 33(a)’); accord *Overton v. City of Harvey*, 29 F. Supp. 2d 894, 901 (N.D. Ill. 1998) (striking as summary judgment exhibit plaintiff’s unverified answers to interrogatories signed only by attorney); *McDougall v. Dunn*, 468 F.2d 468, 472-73, 476 (4th Cir. 1972) (finding error in sustaining interrogatory responses signed under oath only by counsel) .

---

<sup>15</sup> They would also be insufficient even under the scintilla of evidence standard argued by Appellant.

Requiring a party to sign interrogatory responses under oath serves the critical purpose of ensuring that the responding party attests to the truth of the responses. *Knights Armament Co. v. Optical Sys. Tech., Inc.*, 254 F.R.D. 463, 467 (M.D. Fla. 2008).

The Court of Appeals noted Appellant's supplemental interrogatory response filed less than one week before the third summary judgment hearing as attempting to create an issue of fact. However, the Court noted in footnote 2 of the majority opinion:

"The interrogatory answer is not verified. See Rule 33(a), SCRCF ('Each interrogatory shall be answered separately and fully in writing under oath ....')." (Op. at 7.)

In addition to the reasoning cited in the Court of Appeals' footnote, Coves Darden's response was inadequate to create an issue of fact because it attempted to summarize potential testimony of witnesses but that unsworn summary was not in the form of affidavits as required by SCRCF Rule 56.

Thus, the three unsigned and unsworn interrogatory responses cannot be relied on to create the contested factual issue needed to defeat summary judgment. On the other hand, Respondents relied on properly admissible evidence including Miguel Coves' Affidavit and Coves Darden's own document presented to the federal government as a part of the visa application process. The Court of Appeals also properly considered Ibañez's sworn deposition concerning the expected length of the oral contract of employment. (Op. at 6.) All of that *admissible* evidence uniformly supported the conclusion that the term of the oral agreement was for a minimum of two years.

**III. THE CIRCUIT COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS BOTH CORRECTLY FOUND THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THERE WAS NO FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES.**

Appellant argues that every employee, from the janitor who cleans offices at night to the highest levels of management, is a fiduciary of the employer and that each owes exactly the same duty of loyalty to the employer. Essentially, Appellant equates the existence of an employer-employee relationship with the existence of a fiduciary relationship. Beyond that, Appellant argues that this fiduciary relationship can be unilaterally created merely by the employer's placement of trust in the employee. Appellant's position should fail.

In rejecting those arguments, the Court of Appeals cited with approval the following statement from this Court in *Burwell v. S. C. Nat'l. Bank*, 288 S.C. 34, 340 S.E.2d 786 (1986):

The term fiduciary implies that one party is in a superior position to the other and that such a position enables him to exercise influence over one who reposes special trust and confidence in him. 36A C.J.S. Fiduciary (1961). As a general rule, mere respect for another's judgment or trust in his character is usually not sufficient to establish such a relationship. The facts and circumstances must indicate that the one reposing the trust has foundation for his belief that the one giving advice or presenting arguments is acting not in his own behalf, but in the interests of the other party. 36A C.J.S. Fiduciary (1961).

Based on that statement, the Court of Appeals concluded that "The unilateral actions of an employer do not create a fiduciary duty in its employees." (Op. at 9.)

The mere existence of an employer-employee relationship, standing alone, does

not give rise to fiduciary obligations. See *Smalls v. Imperial Servs. Group*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 140302 (D.S.C. 2011) (“An employer/employee relationship is not a fiduciary relationship upon which a fraudulent concealment action could spring.”) Additionally, and most importantly, a fiduciary relationship cannot be created by the unilateral action of only one party. See, e.g. *Steele v. Victory Sav. Bank*, 295 S.C. 290, 368 S.E.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988) (“[A]s a general rule, a fiduciary relationship cannot be established by the unilateral action of one party.”); *Moore v. Moore*, 360 S.C. 241, 599 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 2004) (same); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003) (“The other party must have actually accepted or induced the confidence placed in him.”). The evidence must show that the entrusted party actually accepted or induced the confidence. *Regions Bank, supra*; *Brown v. Pearson*, 326 S.C. 409, 483 S.E.2d 477 (1997); *Arnold v. Erkmann*, 934 S.W.2d 621, 630 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996) (“A fiduciary duty is not created by a unilateral decision to repose trust and confidence; it derives from the conduct or undertaking of the purported fiduciary.” (citation omitted)); *Furr’s Inc. v. United Specialty Adver. Co.*, 385 S.W.2d 456, 459-60 (Tex. Civ. App. 1964) (finding no confidential relationship existed where buyer failed to present evidence seller was aware of confidence buyer claimed to have reposed in him since a “confidential relationship is a two-way street”).

To illustrate this point, consider the following: A building contractor may have the need for a highly trained and competent employee to operate a complex piece of equipment. However, that fact, standing alone, does not make the employee a fiduciary for all purposes - it merely demonstrates that the contractor had a need for a highly

trained employee to perform services for him.

**IV. BECAUSE THERE WAS NO CONTRACT THAT WAS BREACHED, THERE CAN BE NO CLAIM OF TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACT.**

Appellant also argues that, even if there was no valid oral or written contract, and even if Ibañez was only an at-will employee, the relationship was still contractual and, therefore, Dori Derr and Half Moon Stables could still be liable for tortious interference with contract. This argument is wrong for several reasons.

First, as correctly noted by the Court of Appeals, this Court has previously held that “Where there is no breach of the contract, there can be no recovery.” In making this statement, the Court cited to *Eldeco, Inc. v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 372 S.C. 470, 642 S.E.2d 726 (2007), where this Court stated the following:

An essential element to the cause of action for tortious interference with contractual relations requires the intentional procurement of the contract's breach. *Kinard*, 315 S.C. at 240, 433 S.E.2d at 837. Where there is no breach of the contract, there can be no recovery. *First Union Mortg. Corp. v. Thomas*, 317 S.C. 63, 73, 451 S.E.2d 907, 913 (Ct. App. 1994).

As an at-will employee, Ibañez was free to leave Coves Darden at any time and for any reason or for no reason at all. There can be no breach by simply inducing him to leave when he can leave at any time because of his status as an at-will employee.

Second, there is no cause of action for inducing an at-will employee to leave his or her employment. The Circuit Court relied on a North Carolina case, *Peoples Security Life Ins. Co. v. Hooks*, 322 N.C. 216, 367 S.E.2d 647 (1988), and the numerous authorities it cited from courts around the United States, for the proposition that there is a qualified privilege for competitors making better job offers to at-will employees. In a

passage that deserves to be quoted at length, the North Carolina Supreme Court stated:

“[W]e recognize and apply the general principle that interference may be justified when the plaintiff and the defendant are competitors. *Childress v. Abeles*, 240 N.C. 667, 84 S.E. 2d 176. *See also, Bennett v. Storz Broadcasting Co.*, 270 Minn. 525, 134 N.W. 2d 892 (1965); *Schonwald v. Ragains*, 32 Okla. 223, 122 P. 203 (1912); *Philadelphia Dairy Prod. v. Quaker City Ice Cream Co.*, 306 Pa. 164, 159 A. 3 (1932); *Thacker Coal & Coke Co. v. Burke*, 59 W.Va. 253, 53 S.E. 161 (1906). *Contra Moye v. Eure*, 21 N.C. App. 261, 205 S.E. 2d 221 (1974); *Overall Corp. v. Linen Supply, Inc.*, 8 N.C. App. 528, 174 S.E. 2d 659 (1970). Further, we find the well-reasoned opinion of Judge Learned Hand in *Triangle Film Corp. v. Arcraft Pictures Corp.*, 250 F. 981 (2d Cir. 1918) to be persuasive. Judge Hand, writing for the majority in that case, stated that public policy demands that absent some monopolistic purpose everyone has the right to offer better terms to another’s employee, so long as the latter is free to leave. *Id.* A contrary result would be intolerable, both to the new employer who could use the employee more effectively and to the employee who might receive added pay. *Id.* To hold otherwise would unduly limit lawful competition. *Id.* “Later cases adopt the rationale of *Triangle Film*. The free enterprise system demands that competing employers be allowed to vie for the services of the ‘best and brightest’ employees without fear of subsequent litigation for tortious interference. *See McCluer v. Super Maid Cook-Ware Corp.*, 62 F. 2d 426 (10th Cir. 1932); *Vincent Horwitz Co. v. Cooper*, 352 Pa. 7, 41 A. 2d 870 (1945); *Diodes, Inc. v. Franzen*, 260 Cal. App. 2d 244, 67 Cal. Rptr. 19 (1968); *Coleman & Morris v. Pisciotta*, 107 N.Y.S. 2d 715, 279 A.D. 656 (1951). To restrict an employer’s right to entice employees, bound only by terminable at will contracts, from their positions with a competitor or to restrict where those employees may be put to work once they accept new employment savors strongly of oppression.

‘Competition . . . is the life of trade. Every act done by a trader for the purpose of diverting trade from a rival, and attracting it to himself, is an act intentionally done, and, in so far as it is successful, to the injury of the rival in his business . . . . To hold such an act wrongful and illegal would be to stifle competition. Trade should be free and unrestricted; and hence every trader is left to conduct his business in his own way, and cannot be held accountable to a rival who suffers a loss of profits by anything he may do, so long as the methods he employs are not of a class of which fraud, misrepresentation, intimidation, coercion, obstruction, or molestation of the rival or his servants . . . are instances.’

*Macauley Bros. v. Tierney*, 19 R.I. 255, 256, 33 A. 1, 2 (1895), cited with

approval in *C. S. Smith Metro. Mkt. v. Lyons*, 16 Cal. 2d 389, 106 P. 2d 414 (1940); *Kingstron Trap Rock Co. v. International Union of Operating Engineers*, 129 N.J. Eq. 570, 19 A. 2d 661 (1941).

Third, Appellant also claims that Dori Derr lacked standing to challenge the validity of the contract. However, this ignores the fact that Ibañez was a party to the agreement and unquestionably has standing to challenge the validity and enforceability of the contract. Standing is simply not an issue.

In sum, both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that, as a matter of law, there could be no claim for tortious interference with contract.

**V. BOTH THE CIRCUIT COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT.**

Appellant also argues that both courts below erroneously held that summary judgment was improper on the claim of violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUTPA). This claim was based on two alleged misstatements made by Half Moon: a) that Ibañez was working at Half Moon Stables, and b) that Ibañez was on a sabbatical from his work in Spain. As the Court of Appeals noted, “in its memorandum opposing summary judgment, Coves Darden conceded the statements were ‘technically true.’” Both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals correctly held that making a true statement of fact cannot be a violation of the SCUTPA.

To prevail on a claim arising under SCUTPA, “the plaintiff must show: (1) the defendant engaged in an unfair or deceptive act in the conduct of trade or commerce; (2) the unfair or deceptive act affected the public interest; and (3) the plaintiff suffered

monetary or property loss as a result of the defendant's unfair or deceptive act(s)"). *Woodson v. DLI Props. LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 753 S.E.2d 428 (2014); *See Noack Enterprises, Inc. v. Country Corner Interiors, Inc.*, 290 S.C. 475, 351 S.E.2d 347 (1986). Moreover, "An unfair or deceptive act or practice that affects only the parties to a trade or a commercial transaction is beyond the act's embrace."

While admitting the "technical" truth of the statements, Appellant never offered the slightest hint of any alternative understanding that members of the public might possibly have about the statements. Not only was the statement that Mr. Garcia was employed by Half Moon technically and factually true, it was his employment by Half Moon that gave rise to the claim of tortious interference in the first place.

In fact, Respondents have been unable to find a single case in any jurisdiction holding that true statements of fact, standing alone, are sufficient to establish the existence of a deceptive trade practice.

Finally, in what truly appears to be a "Hail Mary" argument, Appellant argues that the separate contractual arrangement Half Moon Stables had with Ibañez violated some unspecified federal law. This is a completely new argument that is being raised for the first time before this Court. It was never raised with either the Circuit Court or the Court of Appeals and has certainly been waived.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, it fails to identify the federal statute that was allegedly violated, so it is impossible for Respondents to even address the issue. Beyond that, the contract between Half Moon Stables and Ibañez is not part of the

---

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